THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTY SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
McHENRY COUNTY, ILLINOIS

PAUL DULBERG,
Plaintiff,

No.: 17 LA 377

V.

THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J.
POPOVICH, P.C. and HANS MAST,
Defendants.

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST
AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW

NOW COMES, your Plaintiff, PAUL DULBERG, (hereinafter referred to as
“DULBERG") by and through his attorneys, THE GOOCH FIRM, and for his Response to
Defendants’ THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C. and HANS MAST
(hereinafter collectively referred to as “Defendants™) Motion to Dismiss states to the Court the

following:

INTRODUCTION

Defendants brought their Motion to Dismiss First Amended Complaint at Law, pursuant
to Section 2-615. (See Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Defendants® Motion to Dismiss
attached hereto without exhibits as Exhibit A.) In their Motion, Defendants argue that
DULBERG failed to state a claim for legal malpractice. However, after review of the facts in the
Complaint, this Honorable Court will determine that DULBERG’s First Amended Complaint is
sufficient to survive this Motion to Dismiss.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR SECTION 2-615

1. A Motion to Dismiss pursuant to section 2-615 attacks the legal sufficiency of the
Complaint by alleging defects on its face. Weisblatt v. Colky, 265 11l.App.3d 622, 625 (1% Dist.

1994). Section 2-615 motions “raise but a single issue: whether, when taken as true, the facts
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alleged in the Complaint set forth a good and sufficient cause of action.” Visvardis v. Ferleger
375 Ill.App.3d 719, 723 (1* Dist. 2007), quoting Scott Wetzel Services v. Regard, 271 1. App.3d
478, 480, 208 111. Dec. 98, 648 N.E.2d 1020 (1995).

2. When the legal sufficiency of a Complaint is challenged by a section 2-615
Motion to Dismiss, all well-pleaded facts in the Complaint are taken as true and a reviewing
court must determine whether the allegations of the Complaint, construed in a light most
favorable to the plaintiff, are sufficient to establish a cause of action upon which relief may be
granted. Vitro v. Mihelcic, 209 1. 2d 76, 81 (2004); King v. First Capital Financial Services
Corp. 215 111.2d 1, 12 (2005). A cause of action should not be dismissed on the pleadings unless
it clearly appears that no set of facts can be proved that will entitled the plaintiff to recover.
Zedella v. Gibson, 165 111.2d 181, 185 (1995).

ARGUMENT
(under 2-615)
I. Dulberg sufficiently states a cause of action for legal malpractice against the
Defendants.

) In his First Amended Complaint, DULBERG sufficiently set forth the necessary
elements of legal malpractice. “To prevail on a legal malpractice claim, the plaintiff client must
plead and prove that the defendant attorneys owed the client a duty of due care arising from the
attorney-client relationship, that the defendants breached that duty, and that as a proximate
result, the client suffered injury.” Northern Illinois Emergency Physicians v. Landau, Omahana
& Kopka, Ltd., 216 111.2d 294, 306-307 (I11., 2005).

2 In the Motion to Dismiss, Defendants allege that DULBERG has not pled
necessary facts. For example, Defendants argue that DULBERG did not plead enough facts as

to what necessary discovery was not conducted under paragraph 31(c) of the First Amended

Complaint (See Motion to Dismiss attached as Exhibit A, pg. 6) This is not true.



3 In that same paragraph, DULBERG gives an example of what type of discovery
was necessary, i.e. hiring a liability expert. (See First Amended Complaint, Exhibit B, §31(c).)

4. Had Defendants conducted expert discovery in DULBERG’s case, the expert
would have opined as to the liability of both Gagnon and the McGuires. DULBERG’s
allegations that an expert should have been hired by MAST is proper because had MAST hired
an expert prior to releasing the McGuires, the expert could have opined as to their liability
which would have resulted in the McGuires staying in the case and DULBERG being able to
obtain a much higher mediation award. Further, this opinion should have been made prior to
settling with the McGuires in order to determine whether $5,000.00 was a reasonable amount.

5- In their Motion, Defendants question why DULBERG’s subsequent counsel did
not retain an expert. (See Motion to Dismiss attached as Exhibit A, pg. 7) In fact, DULBERG
and his subsequent counsel did retain an expert for the mediation and were successful in the
mediation due to the expert’s opinion as to liability. (See First Amended Complaint, Exhibit B,
924, 29.) Thus this issue in Defendants® Motion is moot.

6. DULBERG also discussed necessary discovery regarding insurance policies of
Gagnon and McGuires. MAST failed to conduct discovery to obtain these insurance policies.
This is evidenced in the First Amended Complaint where DULBERG pled that MAST advised
him that Gagnon’s insurance policy limit was only $100,000.00, when in reality it was later
discovered that the limit was $300,000.00. (See First Amended Complaint, Exhibit B, §13, 22.)
This shows that MAST did not have the sufficient discovery as to Gagnon’s insurance policy.

7. Defendants’ next issue with the First Amended Complaint is that DULBERG did

not specify the law pertaining to a property owner’s duties and responsibilities that MAST



should have been familiar with while representing DULBERG. (See Motion to Dismiss attached
as Exhibit A, pg. 6.)

8. The law that MAST should have understood under paragraph 31(f) of the First
Amended Complaint is premises liability and the liabilities of the parties involved in the
underlying case. “Under the Premises Liability Act, the duty owed by a premises owner or
occupier to an invitee or a licensee is that of ‘reasonable care under the circumstances regarding
the state of the premises or acts done or omitted on them.™ (internal citation omitted) Rhodes v.
Hlinois Cent. Gulf R.R., 172 111.2d 213, 228 (I11., 1996).

9. In this case, DULBERG was an invitee of the McGuires. “An invitee is defined as
one who enters the premises of another with the owner's or occupier's express or implied
consent for the mutual benefit of himself and the owner, or for a purpose connected with the
business in which the owner is engaged.” Rhodes v. lllinois Cent. Gulf R.R., supra. The
McGuires had a duty of reasonable care to DULBERG as an invitee because DULBERG was
on their property for their benefit, to cut down a tree. (See First Amended Complaint, Exhibit
B, 16.)

10.  MAST’s failure to become familiar with this law or chainsaw ownership liability,
resulted in him coercing and pressuring DULBERG to accept a paltry settlement of $5,000.00
with the McGuries, when in fact their liability was much more, as presented by the expert
during the mediation. Based on this law, MAST would have seen that McGuires as homeowners
did in fact owe a duty to DULBERG.

b Also, had MAST reviewed the law on premises liability, he could have considered
the law as to ultrahazardous circumstances and the strict liability of the homeowners. “Illinois

has recognized strict liability principally in two instances:” * * * “(2) when a defendant engages



in ultrahazardous or abnormally dangerous activity as determined by the courts, giving
particular consideration, inter alia, to the appropriateness of the activity to the place where it is
maintained, in light of the character of the place and its surroundings.” (internal citations
omitted) Miller v. Civil Constructors, Inc., 272 1l.App.3d 263, 266 (2™ Dist., 1995). MAST
should have considered strict liability as to the McGuires prior to advising DULBERG to settle.

12.  Throughout the First Amended Complaint, DULBERG lists different ways (via
email and in person communication) that Defendants falsely advised DULBERG that releasing
the McGuires from liability was the proper course to take. (See First Amended Complaint,
Exhibit B, §15-21.)

13.  Also, MAST emailed and verbally told DULBERG that if he did not agree to the
$5,000.00 settlement with the McGuires, he would get nothing. (See First Amended Complaint,
Exhibit B, §15-21.)

14.  Overall, DULBERG has pled with enough specificity what MAST and/or the
Defendants did improperly to breach the standard of care.

15.  Asto the specific allegations relating to Defendants’ concealment of facts to
DULBERG, paragraph 31(k) of the First Amended Complaint, DULBERG stated what was
concealed from him by the Defendants. Defendants concealed from DULBERG the actual
policy limits from the McGuires and Gagnon, concealed facts relating to the explanation of
liability law and what type of duty the McGuires owed to DULBERG, concealed that retaining
an expert witness prior to accepting settlement would have been beneficial to DULBERG’s
case, and concealed the fact that Defendants were handling everything properly when this was

not the truth.



16.  The facts pled regarding concealment are sufficiently pled in DULBERG’s First
Amended Complaint and must be taken as true in a Section 2-615 Motion.

17.  Next, Defendants argue without any authority that DULBERG was not coerced
because he had time to deliberate over the decision to settle. (See Motion to Dismiss attached as
Exhibit A, pg. 7.) This is not true.

18. DULBERG’s exhibits to the First Amended Complaint as well as the pleading
itself demonstrate how MAST coerced DULBERG into the settlement with the McGuires.

19.  DULBERG pled that MAST essentially gave him two options: to take the
$5,000.00 settlement or get nothing. DULBERG was coerced into this decision because he was
unaware of any other option and forced to take the only available option.

20. On multiple occasions, MAST told DULBERG, via email, to accept the
settlement otherwise the McGuires will get out of the case for free. (See First Amended
Complaint, Exhibit B, {15, 16.)

21.  DULBERG also pled that MAST verbally told him that he had no choice but to
execute a release of the McGuires and accept the $5,000.00. (See First Amended Complaint,
Exhibit B, §17.)

22.  Defendants also argue that Exhibit E to the First Amended Complaint shows that
DULBERG had time to deliberate over the decision and thus could not have been coerced. (See
Motion to Dismiss attached as Exhibit A, pg. 7.) This is not true.

23.  Exhibit E to the First Amended Complaint is an email from DULBERG to MAST
stating that the release was signed and put in the mail. Exhibit E further shows DULBERG’s

continued hesitation over the $5,000.00 settlement however, based on the information that



MAST had told him, DULBERG said that he “trusted his judgment”. See Exhibit E to the First
Amended Complaint.

24.  “Coercion” and “duress” have essentially the same meaning: overpowering
another's free will by imposition, oppression, or undue influence. Crossroads Ford Truck Sales,
Inc. v. Sterling Truck Corp., 341 1ll.App.3d 438, 446 (4" Dist., 2003). MAST continuous verbal
and written threats to accept the settlement or get nothing resulted in DULBERG thinking (based
on what his attorney was telling him) that he had no other choice but to accept this small
settlement.

25.  More importantly, whether DULBERG was coerced or acted willingly is a
question of fact. Schwartz v. Schwartz, 29 11.App. 516, 527 (4™ Dist., 1889).

26.  The pleading and exhibit show that DULBERG made the decision to settle after
meeting with MAST in person, and MAST telling him that he had no choice but to accept the
settlement. DULBERG acted quickly to accept the settlement based on the information that
MAST told him that if he would not accept it, the offer would be withdrawn and the McGuires
would be successful on a summary judgment motion.

27.  Simply because Exhibit E states that the release was mailed weeks later, does not
mean that DULBERG was not coerced into accepting the settlement based on the information
that he was given by his attorney whom he trusted.

28. In any event, the issue of coercion must be left to the trier of fact to decide after
all evidence is obtained and at this point, determining a factual question on a Motion to Dismiss
would be inappropriate.

29.  Last Defendants raise the issue of proximate cause as to MAST’s improper

determination of Gagnon’s insurance coverage limit being $300,000.00 and not $100,000.00.



(See Motion to Dismiss attached as Exhibit A, pg. 7.) As argued above, this allegation supports
DULBERG’s argument that MAST did not conduct the proper discovery, as evidenced by the
incorrect policy limit. Had MAST not breached the standard of care and had he conducted proper
discovery, DULBERG would have had the correct policy amount for Gagnon, and would have
the insurance policy for the McGuires in order to make an informed decision as to settlement.

30. In DULBERG’s case, he was forced to settle for an amount less than he would
have reasonably received. After mediation, DULBERG was allowed only to recover to the extent
of Gagnon’s policy limits. (See First Amended Complaint, Exhibit B, 424, 27, 29.) Had MAST
not allowed the release of the McGuires, DULBERG could have reasonably been able to collect
the remainder of the mediation award against the McGuires. “Attorney malpractice action should
be allowed where it can be shown that the plaintiff had to settle for a lesser amount than she
could reasonably expect without the malpractice.” Brooks v. Brennan, 255 111.App. 3d 260, 270
(5™ Dist., 1994). Thus, DULBERG properly brought a malpractice against the Defendants.

31.  The allegations set forth as to the legal malpractice by DULBERG in his First
Amended Complaint are not conclusions and when taken as true, are sufficient to withstand a
Section 2-615 dismissal.

32. DULBERG has proven that the actions and inactions of the Defendants have
caused DULBERG damages. (See First Amended Complaint, Exhibit B, Y31, 32.) Any dispute
as to the proximate cause and damages must be left to the jury as it is a factual question. The
issues of proximate cause and damages must be determined by a jury or trier of fact after all
proper evidence and testimony is presented at trial. Proximate cause is a question of fact to be
decided by a jury. (internal citation omitted) (Emphasis added) Hooper v. County of Cook, 366

Il.LApp.3d 1, 7 (1* Dist., 2006). “The determination of damages is a question of fact that is



within the discretion of the jury and is entitled to substantial deference.” (Emphasis added.)
Linhart v. Bridgeview Creek Development, Inc., 391 Ill.App.3d 630, 636 (1* Dist., 2009).

33.  Defendants in their Motion to Dismiss are requiring of DULBERG to plead his
entire case in a single Complaint. “Plaintiff is not required to prove his case at this stage of the
pleadings and the damages as alleged are sufficient to show he was damaged by Defendants’
actions and cause of action for legal malpractice. Fox v. Seiden, supra, at 294; Platson v. NSM
| America, Inc., 322 11l App. 3d 138, 143 (2™ Dist., 2001) (‘Cases are not to be tried at the
pleadings stage, so a claimant need only show a possibility of recovery, not an absolute right to
recover, to survive a 2-615 Motion.”). Here, DULBERG has shown at least a possibility of
recovery based on the malpractice of Defendants, thus should survive Defendants’ 2-615 Motion.

34.  Accordingly, this Honorable Court should deny Defendants’ Motion in order to
allow the case to be fully and properly litigated.

CONCLUSION

After review of the allegations in the First Amended Complaint and taking the allegations
as true, this Honorable Court must find that DULBERG has properly stated and pled a claim for
legal malpractice. More importantly, due to the factual questions in this case, granting the
Motion to Dismiss would be inappropriate. However, in the event this Court grants the Motion,
DULBERG requests a reasonable time to file a Second Amended Complaint to include any other
facts this Court deems appropriate.

WHEREFORE your Plaintiff PAUL DULBERG prays this Honorable Court denies
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and for all other relief this Honorable Court deems equitable and
just. If this Court grants Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, PAUL DULBERG prays for a

reasonable amount of time to file a Second Amended Complaint.



THE GOOCH FIRM
209 S. Main Street
Wauconda, 1L 60084
847-526-0110

gooch@goochfirm.com

office@goochfirm.com
ARDC: 3123355

Respectfully submitted by
THE GOOCH FIRM, on behalf of
PAUL DULBERG, Plaintiff,

o I Mol

Thomas W. Gooch, 111
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07/05/2018 -
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTY-SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
MCHENRY COUNTY, ILLINOIS
PAUL DULBERG, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
VS. ) No. 17LA000377
)
THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. )
POPOVICH, P.C., and HANS MAST, )
)
Defendants. )

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’
MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW

Defendants, LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C., and HANS MAST, by
and through their attorneys, GEORGE K. FLYNN, and CLAUSEN MILLER P.C., pursuant to
735 ILCS 5/2-615, submit this Memorandum in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss

Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint at Law with prejudice, and state as follows:

I.  INTRODUCTION
The Plaintiff Paul Dulberg (“Dulberg”) retained defendants The Law Offices of

Thomas J. Popovich P.C. (“Popovich™) to prosecute a personal injury claim on his behalf against
his next door neighbors, Carolyn and Bill McGuire and their adult son (Dulberg’s lifelong
friend), David Gagnon (“Gagnon™)). Hans Mast (“Mast”) handled the case for the firm. Dulberg
was on the McGuires’ property, assisting Gagnon trim some tree branches with a chainsaw,
when Dulberg’s right arm was lacerated by the chainsaw. Dulberg agreed to a settlement with
the McGuires. Thereafter, he and Mast reached an impasse. Mast and the firm withdrew, and

successor counsel continued to prosecute the case against Gagnon.
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Dulberg now has a case of “buyer’s remorse,” admitting that he reluctantly agreed to
accept the McGuires® settlement offer. He has attempted to state a claim against Popovich and
Mast for legal malpractice. However, he has not plead the requisite elements of a legal
malpractice case against Popovich and Mast, or the requisite elements of the underlying case (the
“case within the case”).

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On November 28, 2017, Plaintiff filed his single count Complaint at Law for legal
malpractice. Defendants moved to dismiss. On May 10, 2018, the Court granted Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/615 (see Order attached as Exhibit 1). During the
hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Judge Meyer ordered that the Plaintiff plead with
more particularity and specificity regarding any allegations that he was misled. The Court also
ordered the Plaintiff to provide more specificity and particularity with respect to any claims that
information provided by Defendants to the Plaintiff was false and misleading. Plaintiff filed its
First Amended Complaint at Law on June 7, 2018.

1L TA NT OF S

A. The Following Facts Can Be Gleaned From The First Amended Complaint

xh and I its
On June 28, 2011, Dulberg was assisting David Gagnon in the cutting down of a tree on

the property of Carolyn and Bill McGuire. (Exhibit 2, § 6). Gagnon lost control of the chainsaw
and caused personal injury to Dulberg. (Exhibit 2, 7). In May of 2012, Dulberg retained
Popovich. (Exhibit 2, §8). On May 15, 2012, Mast filed a Complaint on behalf of Dulberg

against Gagnon and the McGuires in the Circuit Court of McHenry County, Illinois, Case No, 12

2
1624970.1
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LA 178. (Exhibit 2, § 9, and Exhibit 2B)'. In late 2013, Dulberg settled with the McGuires and
executed a Release in their favor in exchange for the payment of $5,000.00. The McGuires and
their insurance carrier, Auto Owners Insurance Company, were released. (Exhibit 2, {18 and
Exhibit 2D). Defendants continued to represent Dulberg until March 2015. (Exhibit 2, §21).
Dulberg retained successor counsel and proceeded to a binding mediation and received a
mediation award (Exhibit 2, § 24 and Exhibit 2G). After the mediation, Dulberg allegedly
realized for the first time that the information Mast and Popovich had given him was false and
misleading and that the dismissal of the McGuires was a serious and substantial mistake. He was
advised to seek an independent opinion from an attorney handling legal malpractice matters and
received that opinion on or about December 16, 2016. (Exhibit 2, § 28-29).

B. Alleged Acts of Negligence

Popovich’s and Mast’s alleged malpractice revolves around the settlement of the
underlying case between Dulberg and McGuires. The allegations of a breach of the standard of
care are all contained in § 31, subsections a) through o) inclusive. Paragraph 31 states as
follows:

31.  MAST and POPOVICH, jointly and severally, breached the

duties owed DULBERG by violating the standard of care owed
DULBERG in the following ways and respects:

a) Failed to take such actions as were necessary during their
representation of DULBERG to fix liability against the property
owners of the subject property (the McGuires) who employed
Gagnon, and sought the assistance of DULBERG, for example
hiring a liability expert;

b) Failed to thoroughly investigate liability issues against
property owners of the subject property;

! The exhibits to the underlying complaint in Case No. 12 LA 178 will be referenced as Exhibits 2A, 2B,
2C, 2D, 2E, 2F, and 2G.

3
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c) Failed to conduct necessary discovery, so as to fix the
liability of the property owners to DULBERG, for example hiring
a liability expert;

d) Failed to investigate the insurance policy amounts of the
McGuires and Gagnon;

¢) Incorrectly informed DULBERG that Gagnon’s insurance
policy was “only $100,000.00” and no insurance company would
pay close to that;

) Failed to understand the law pertaining to a property
owner’s rights, duties and responsibilities to someone invited onto
their property by consulting an expert regarding these issues;

g2) Improperly urged DULBERG to accept a nonsensical
settlement from the property owners, and dismissed them from all
further responsibility;

h) Failed to appreciate and understand further moneys could
not be received as against Gagnon, and that the McGuires and their
obvious liability were a very necessary party to the litigation;

i) Falsely advised DULBERG throughout the period of their
representation, that the actions taken regarding the McGuires was
proper in all ways and respects, and that DULBERG had no choice
but to accept the settlement;

j) Coerced DULBERG, verbally and through emails, into
accepting the settlement with the McGuires for $5,000.00 by
misleading him into believing that [sic] had no other choice but to
accept the settlement or else “the McGuires will get out for FREE
on a motion”.

k) Concealed from DULBERG the necessary facts for him to
make an informed decision as to the McGuires, instead coercing
him verbally and through emails into signing a release and
settlement agreement and accept a paltry sum of $5,000.00 for
what was a grievous injury;

1) Failed to properly explain to DULBERG all ramifications
of accepting the McGuire settlement, and giving him the option of
retaining alternative counsel to review the matter;

m)  Continually reassured DULBERG that the course of action
as to the property owners was proper and appropriate;

4
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n) Failed to retain a liability expert to prove DULBERG’s

damages;

0) Were otherwise negligent in their representation of
DULBERG.

IV. DULBE AILS TO STATE IM FOR LE

MALPRACTICE UNDER 735 ILCS 5/2-615

A. Legal Standard
It is clearly established that Illinois is a fact pleading jurisdiction, requiring the plaintiff

to present a legally and factually sufficient complaint. Winfrey v. Chicago Park Dist., 274 Il
App. 3d 939, 942 (1st Dist. 1995). A plaintiff must allege facts sufficient to bring his or her
claim within the cause of action asserted. Jackson vs. South Holland Dodge, 197 Ill. 2d 39
(2001). To pass muster a complaint must state a cause of action in two ways: first, it must be
legally sufficient -- it must set forth a legally recognized claim as its avenue of recovery, and
second, the complaint must be factually sufficient -- it must plead facts, which bring the claim
within a legally recognized cause of action as alleged. People ex rel. Fahner v. Carriage Way
West, Inc., 88 Il1. 2d 300, 308 (1981). Dismissal of a complaint is mandatory if one fails to meet
both requirements. Misselhorn v. Doyle, 257 Ill. App. 3d 983, 985 (5th Dist. 1994). In ruling on
a Section 2-615 motion, “only those facts apparent from the face of the pleadings, matters of
which the court can take judicial notice, and judicial admissions in the record may be
considered.” Mount Zion State Bank and Trust v. Consolidated Communications, Inc., 169 Il1.
2d 110, 115 (1995).

In Illinois, to establish a legal malpractice claim, a plaintiff must plead and prove the
existence of an attorney client relationship; a duty arising from that relationship; a breach of that
duty, the proximate causal relationship between the breach of duty and the damage sustained;

and actual damages. Glass v. Pitler, 276 1ll. App. 3d 344, 349 (1% Dist. 1995). The injuries

5
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resulting from legal malpractice are not personal injuries but pecuniary injuries to intangible
property interests. Glass at 349. Damages must be incurred and are not presumed. Glass at 349.
It is the plaintiff’s burden to establish that “but for” the attorney’s negligence, the client would
not have suffered the damages alleged. Glass at 349. “The proximate cause element of legal
malpractice claim requires that the plaintiff show that but for the attorney’s malpractice, the
client would have been successful in the undertaking the attorney was retained to perform.

Green v. Papa, 2014 IL App. (5") 1330029 (2014), quoting Owens v. McDermott Will & Emery,
316 Ill. App. 340 (1st Dist. 2000), at 351. The plaintiff in a legal malpractice claim must plead a

case within the case. Ignarski v. Norbut, 271 Ill. App. 3d 522 (1st Dist.1995).

B. Dulberg Fails to Plead Facts in Support of His Conclusory Allegations
Dulberg’s second attempt at stating a claim fairs no better than his first. He still fails to

plead with specificity and particularity as to how he was misled, or how any information
provided to him was false and misleading. His allegations are pled in conclusory fashion
throughout. He also fails to plead any facts concerning the McGuires’ liability in the underlying
case. His allegations concern the viability of a tort claim against property owners. Accordingly,
he must plead facts in support of the property owners’ [the McGuires] liability in the underlying
case. Instead, Dulberg pleads only conclusions. More is necessary under [llinois law.

Dulberg has failed to follow the court’s direction from the hearing on Defendant’s
Motion to Dismiss. The allegations of negligence contained in § 31 fail to allege any facts in
support of the conclusions. For example, what necessary discovery was not conducted? (§ 31
(c)) What is the law pertaining to a property owner’s duties and responsibilities? (31 (f)). How
did defendants falsely advise Dulberg that the actions taken regarding the McGuires was proper?
(Y 31 (i)). What was concealed from Dulberg? (§ 31 (k)). The bottom line is that Dulberg has yet
to explain how the McGuires would have been found liable. The only thing that can be gleaned

6
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from the facts alleged in the Complaint and First Amended Complaint, is that Dulberg was
injured on their property. He fails to explain how the McGuire’s breached any duty to him, and
how they would have been liable.

Additionally, Dulberg’s allegations of coercion are not supported by his own pleadings.
It is reasonably inferred from the pleadings that Dulberg had ample time to retain another
attorney (in fact later he did). Exhibit E to his First Amended Complaint establishes that he
deliberated over the decision to settle, and mailed a signed release back to Mast. So how was he
coerced, when he alleges that he met with Mast, and then later mailed the executed release?

Moreover, his allegations regarding the failure to retain an expert are unsupported. He
also fails to explain why his successor counsel did not retain an expert at the appropriate time if
necessary. Lastly, Dulberg can never properly allege proximately caused damages regarding the
allegation in § 31 (e), that Gagnon’s insurance coverage was $300,000 and not $100,000. In fact,
Dulberg admits in § 24 that he recovered $300,000 in available coverage from Gagnon. If Mast
incorrectly reported the available coverage, it did not cause any damage, as Dulberg’s successor
counsel was apparently able to recover the full amount of available coverage against the
individual who injured Dulberg with a chainsaw.

Under Illinois fact pleading requirements, much more is needed. In a case of alleged
professional liability, the plaintiff cannot simply allege in conclusory terms that the defendants
were negligent, and that the Plaintiff could have proved up liability against the underlying
defendants. He must allege why and how. Dulberg has failed twice. His First Amended

Complaint must be dismissed with prejudice pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-615.

7
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V.  CONCLUSION
WHEREFORE, Defendants, LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C., and

HANS MAST, pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-615 respectfully request this Honorable Court dismiss

Plaintiff’s Complaint with prejudice, and for any further relief this Court deems fair and proper.

/s/ George K. Flynn

GEORGE K. FLYNN
CLAUSEN MILLER P.C.

GEORGE K. FLYNN
CLAUSEN MILLER P.C.
ARDC No. 6239349

10 South LaSalle Street
Chicago, Illinois 60603-1098
(312) 855-1010

Attorneys for Defendants

gflynn@clausen.com

8
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THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTY-SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
' McHENRY COUNTY, ILLINOIS

PAUL DULBERG,
Plaintiff,
No. 17 LA 377

V.

THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J.
POPOVICH, P.C., and HANS MAST,

i e g —

Defendant.

FIR NDED COMPLAINT AT LAW
(Legal Malpractice)

COMES NOW your Plaintiff, PAUL DULBERG (hereinafter also referred to as
“DULBERG"), by and through his attorneys, THE GOOCH FIRM, and as and for his First
Amended Complaint against THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C.
(hereinafter also referred to as “POPOVICH”), and HANS MAST (hereinafier also referred to as
“MAST"), states the following:

1. Your Plaintiff, PAUL DULBERG, is a resident of McHenry County, Illinois, and was
such a resident at all times complained of herein.

7.0 Your Defendant, THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C., is a law firm
operating in McHenry County, Illinois, and transacting business on a regular and daily basis in
McHenry County, Illinois.

3. Your Defendant, HANS MAST, is either an agent, employee, or partner of THE LAW
OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C. MAST is a licensed attorney in the State of

[llinois, and was so licensed at all times relevant to this Complaint.
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4. That due to the actions and status of MAST in relation to POPOVICH, the actions and
inactions of MAST are directly attributable to his employer, partnership, or principal, being THE
LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPVICH, P.C.

5 Venue is therefore claimed proper in McHenry County, Illinois, as the Defendants
transact substantial and regular business in and about McHenry County in the practice of law,
where their office is located.

6. On or about June 28, 2011, your Plaintiff, DULBERG was involved in a horrendous
accident, having been asked by his neighbors Caroline McGuire and William McGuire, in
assisting a David Gagnon in the cutting down of a tree on the McGuire property. DULBERG
lived in the same area. |

g At this time, Gagnon lost control of the chainsaw he was using causing it to strike and cut
DULBERG’s arm. This caused substantial and catastrophic injuries to DULBERG, including but
not limited to great pain and suffering, current as well as future medical expenses, in an amount
in excess of $260,000.00, along with lost wages in excess of $250,000.00, and various other
damages.

8. In May of 2012, DULBERG retained THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J.
POPOVICH, P.C., pursuant to a written retainer agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A.

9. A copy of the Complaint filed by MAST on his own behalf, and on behalf of DULBERG,
is attached hereto as Exhibit B, and the allegations of that Complaint are fully incorporated into
this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

10.  An implied term of the retainer agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A, was that at all
times, the Defendants would exercise their duty of due care towards their client and conform

their acts and actions within the standard of care every attorney owes his client.
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11.  That as Exhibit B reveals, Defendants properly filed suit against not only the operator of
the chain saw, but also his principals, Caroline McGuire and William McGuire, who purportedly
were supervising him in his work on the premises.

12. At the time of filing of the aforesaid Complaint, MAST certified pursuant to Supreme
Court Rule 137, that he had made a diligent investigation of the facts and circumstances around
the Complaint he filed, and further had ascertained the appropriate law. MAST evidently
believed a very good and valid cause of acti'on existed against Caroline McGuire and William
McGuire.

13.  Also MAST incorrectly informed DULBERG that the insurance policy limit for the
Gagnon was only $100,000.00, when in reality the policy was $300,000.00.

14.  The matter proceeded through the normal stages of litigation until sometime in late 2013
or early 2014, when MAST began urging DULBERG to settle the matter against William
McGuire and Caroline McGuire for $5,000.00.

15.  On November 18, 2013, MAST wrote two emails to DULBERG urging DULBERG to
accept the $5,000.00, “the McGuire's atty has offered us (you) $5,000 in full settlement of the
claim against the McGuires only. As we discussed, they have no liability in the case for what
Dave did as property owners. So they will likely get out of the case on a motion at some point, so
my suggestion is to take the $5,000 now. You probably won't see any of it due to liens etc. but it
will offset the costs deducted from any eventual recovery....” * * * “So if we do not accept their
5000 they will simply file a motion and get out of the case for free. That's the only other option is

letting them file motion getting out of the case”. (See Emails attached as Group Exhibit C.)
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16.  Similarly, on November 20, 2013 MAST emailed DULBERG urging him to accept the
$5,000.00 otherwise “the McGuires will get out for FREE on a motion.” (See Emails attached as
Group Exhibit C.)

17.  Onor around December 2013 or January 2014, MAST met with DULBERG and other
family members and again advised them there was no cause of action against William McGuire
and Caroline McGuire, and verbally told DULBERG that he had no choice but to execute a
release in favor of the McGuires for the sum of $5,000.00 and if he did not, he would get
nothing.

18.  DULBERG, having no choice in the matter, reluctantly agreed with MAST to accept the
sum of $5,000.00 releasing not only William and Caroline McGuire, but also Auto-Owners
Insurance Company from any further responsibility or liability in the matter. A copy of the
aforesaid general release and settlement agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit D.

19.  Continuously throughout the period of representation, MAST and POPOVICH
represented repeatedly to DULBERG there was no possibility of any liability against William
and/or Caroline McGuire and/or Auto-Owners Insurance Company, and lulled DULBERG into
believing that the matter was being properly handled

20.  After accepting the $5,000 settlement, DULBERG wrote MAST an email on January 29,
2014 stating “I trust your judgment.” (Sec Email attached as Exhibit E.)

21.  MAST and POPOVICH continued to represent DULBERG into 2015 and continuously
assured him that his case was being handled properly.

22.  On February 22, 2015, as to any chance of settling the remainder of his case against
Gagnon MAST wrote to DULBERG that, “There's only $100,000 in coverage. Allstate will

never offer anything near the policy limits therefore there's no chance to settle the case. The only

P lowhder -



alternative is to take the case to trial and I am not interested in doing that.” (See Email attached
as Exhibit F.)

23,  MAST and POPOVICH represented DULBERG through to and including March of
2015, following which DULBERG and the Defendants terminated their relationship due to a
claimed failure of communication. MAST and POPOVICH withdrew from the representation of
DULBERG.

24.  Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded to a Court ordered binding
mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding mediation award
of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00. However, due to the settlement with
the McGuires, DULBERG was only able to collect $300,000.00 based upon the insurance policy
available. A copy of the aforesaid Mediation Award is attached hereto as Exhibit G.

25.  The McGuires were property owners and had property insurance covering injuries or
losses on their property, as well as substantial personal assets, including the property location
where the accident took place at 1016 West Elder Avenue, in the City of McHenry, Illinois.
McGuires were well able to pay all, or a portion of the binding mediation award had they still
remained parties.

26. DULBERG, in his relationship with POPOVICH and MAST, cooperated in all ways with
them, furnishing all necessary information as required, and frequently conferred with them.

27.  Until the time of the mediation award, DULBERG had no reason to believe he could not
recover the full amount of his injuries, based on POPOVICH’S and MAST’S representations to
DULBERG that he could recover the full amount of his injuries from Gagnon, and that the

inclusion of the McGuires would only complicate the case.
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28.  Following the execution of the mediation agreement and the final mediation award,
DULBERG realized for the first time in December of 2016 that the information MAST and
POPOVICH had given DULBERG was false and misleading, and that in fact, the dismissal of
the McGuires was a serious and substantial mistake.

29. It was not until the mediation in December 2016, based on the expert’s opinions that
DULBERG retained for the mediation, that DULBERG became reasonably aware that MAST
and POPOVICH did not properly represent him by pressuring and coercing him to accept a
settlement for $5,000.00 on an “all or nothing” basis.

30. DULBERG was advised to seek an independent opinion from a legal malpractice
attorney and received that opinion on or about December 16, 2016.

31.  MAST and POPOVICH, jointly and severally, breached the duties owed DULBERG by
violating the standard of care owed DULBERG in the following ways and respects:

a) Failed to take such actions as were necessary during their representation of
DULBERG to fix liability against the property owners of the subject property (the McGuires)
who employed Gagnon, and sought the assistance of DULBERG, for example hiring a liability
expert;

b) Failed to thoroughly investigate liability issues against property owners of the
subject property;

c) Failed to conduct necessary discovery, so as to fix the liability of the property
owners to DULBERG, for example hiring a liability expert;

d.)  Failed to investigate the insurance policy amounts of the McGuires and Gagnon;

e.) Incorrectly informed DULBERG that Gagnon’s insurance policy was “only

$100,000.00” and no insurance company would pay close to that;
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1) Failed to understand the law pertaining to a property owner’s rights, duties and
responsibilities to someone invited onto their property by consulting an expert regarding these
issues;

B Improperly urged DULBERG to accept a nonsensical settlement from the
property owners, and dismissed them from all further responsibility;

h) Failed to appreciate and understand further moneys could not be received as
against Gagnon, and that the McGuires and their obvious liability were a very necessary party to
the litigation;

i) Falsely advised DULBERG throughout the period of their representation, that the
actions taken regarding the McGuires was proper in all ways and respects, and that DULBERG
had no choice but to accept the settlement;

j) Coerced DULBERG, verbally and through emails. into accepting the settlement
with the McGuires for $5,000.00 by misleading him into believing that had no other choice but
to accept the settlement or else “the McGuires will get out for FREE on a motion™.

k) Concealed from DULBERG the necessary facts for him to make an informed
decision as to the McGuires, instead coercing him verbally and through emails into signing a
release and settlement agreement and accept a paltry sum of $5,000.00 for what was a grievous
injury;

1) Failed to properly explain to DULBERG all ramifications of accepting the
McQGuire settlement, and giving him the option of retaining alternative counsel to review the
matter;

m)  Continually reassured DULBERG that the course of action as to the property

owners was proper and appropriate;



n) Failed to retain a liability expert to prove DULBERG’s damages;

0) Were otherwise negligent in their representation of DULBERG.
32.  That DULBERG suffered serious and substantial damages, not only as a result of the
injury as set forth in the binding mediation award, but due to the direct actions of MAST and
POPOVICH in urging DULBERG to release the McGuires, lost the sum of well over
$300,000.00 which would not have occurred but for the acts of MAST and THE LAW OFFICES
OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C.

WHEREFORE, your Plaintiff, PAUL DULBERG prays this Honorable Court to enter
judgment on such verdict as a jury of twelve (12) shall return, together with the costs of suit and
such other and further relief as may be just, all in excess of the jurisdictional minimums of this

Honorable Court.

Respectfully submitted by,

PAUL DULBERG, Plaintiff, by his
attorneys THE GOOCH FIRM,

o €I Mo

Thomas W. Gooch, 111

PLAINTIFF HEREBY DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY OF TWELVE (12) PERSONS:!

Sy MY,

Thomas W. Gooch, Il

Thomas W. Gooch, I1I
THE GOOCH FIRM
209 S. Main Street
Wauconda, [L 60084
847-526-0110

ARDC No.: 3123355

gooch@goochfirm.com
office@goochfirm.com
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From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg @comcast.net>
Subject: Fwd: Dave's Best and oldest friend John
Date: December 28, 2016 10:33:35 AM CST

To: paul_dulberg@comcast.net

From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>
Date: November 20, 2013 at 7:26.53 AM CST

To: Hans Mast

Subject: Re: Dave's Best and oldest friend John

Mormning Hans,

Ok we can meet. | will call Shella today and set up a time.

Please send me a link to the current lllincis statute citing that the property owner is not liable for work done on their property
resulting in injury to a neighbor.

I need to read it myself and any links to racent case law in this area would be helpful as well.

i

Paul Dulberg
847-497-4250
Sent from my iPad

On Nov 20, 2013, at 6:59 AM, Hans Mast <hansmast@comcast.net> wrote:

Paul, lets meet again to discuss. The legality of it all is that a property owner does not have legal liability for a worker (whether
friend, son or otherwise) who does the work on his time, using his own independent skills. Here, | deposed the McGuires, and
they had nothing to do with how Dave did the work other than to request the work to be done. They had no control on how Dave
wielded the chain saw and cut you. its that simple. We don't have to accept the $5,000, but if we do not, the McGuires will get
out for FREE on a motion. So Lhat's the situation.

—-- Original Message ——

From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.ngt>

To: Hans Mast

Sent: Tus, 19 Nov 2013 02:29:56 -0000 (UTC)

Subject: Re: Dave's Best and oldest friend John

| still don't get how they don't feel responsible for work done on their property by their own son that ended up cutting through 40%
of my arm,

Perhaps their negligence is the fact that they didn't supervise the work close enough but they did oversee much of the days
activity with David. Just because Dave was doing the work doesn't mean they were not trying to tell their kid what to de. They told
him plenty of times throughout the day what to do. How Is that not supervising?

Paul

Paul Dulberg

847-497-4250

Sent from my iPad

On Nov 18, 2013, at 8:07 PM, Hans Mast <hansmast@comcast.net> wrote;

Paul whether you fike it or not they don't have a legal fiability for your injury because they were not directing the work. So if we
do not accept their 5000 they will simply file a motion and get out of the case for free. That's the only other option is lefting them
file motion getting out of the case

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 18, 2013, at 7:40 PM, Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net> wrote:

Only 5, That's not much at all.
Is this a take it or leave It or do we have any other options?

If you wanl a negligence case for the homeowners ask what happened immediately after the accident.

Neither of them offered me any medical assistance nor did either of them call 911 and all Carol could think of besides calling
David an idiot was calling her homeowners insurance.
EXHIBT
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They all left me out in the yard screaming for help while they were busy making sure they were covered.
She sven went as far as to finally call the Emergency Room after | was already there just to tell me she was covered.

How selfish are people when they worry about if their insured over helping the person who was hurt and bleeding badly in
their yard.

I'm glad she got her answer and had to share it with me only to find out her coverage won't even pay the medical bills.
I'm not happy with the offer.

As far as John Choyinski, he knows he has to call you and said he will tomorrow.

Paul

Paul Dulberg
847-497-4250
Sent from my iPad

On Nov 18, 2C13, at 1:28 PM, Hans Mast <nansmast@comcast net> wrote:
Im waiting to hear from John. | tried calling him last week, but no cne answered.

In addition, the McGuire's atty has offered us (you) $5,000 in full settlement of the claim against the McGuires only. As we
discussed, they have no liability in the case for what Dave did as property owners. So they will likely get out of the case on a
motion at some point, so my suggesticn s to take the $5,000 now. You probably won't see any of it due to liens etc. but it
will offset the costs deducted from any eventual recovery....

Let me know what you think..
Hans

- Original Message ----

From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>

To: Hans Mast <hansmast@comcast.net>

Sent: Fri, 15 Nov 2013 22:41:26 -0000 (UTC)

Subject: Dave's Best and oldest friend John

Hans,

Just spoke with John Choyinski again about talking with you.

| am leaving your number with him as he has agreed to talk with you about David Gagnon.

1 belisve he will iry and call sometime tomorrow.

Paul

Oh and | know that nothing that happened right after the incident makes any differance as to the validity of the injuries but
David's conduct immediately after the incident does show his lack of moral values for other humans and what he was willing
and was not willing to do to help me get medical help. For his actions towards me or any other human being is enough to
sue the shit out him alone. It is the things that happened afterwards that upsel me the most.

Sorry for the rant but Dave was a complete ass all the way and deserves this.

Paul Duiberg

847-497-4250

Sent from my iPad
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The Law ’C')fﬁces of Thomas J. Popbvich BC.

£F 3416 W, EuM Srezer
McHangy, Truinois 60050
TeLaEPHONE; 815,344,3797
FacsuviLe: 815.344,5280

iguas 1. Poroviciy MArk J. Voca
Hans A Masr Y. papovichiaw.com JAMES P, Ttrips
Yot A, Kowuax Ropirr J. Lumsyy
THenesa M, Frivsuan
January 24, 2014
Paul Dulberg
4606 Hayden Court
McHenry, 1L 60051

RE:  Paul Duiberg vs, David Gagnon, Caroline McGuire and Bill MeGuire
MecHenry County Case: 12 LA 178

Dear Paul;

Please find enclosed the Geasral Reloase and Settlement Agreement from defense counsel for
Caroline and Bill McGuire, Please Relsase and tefum it to me in the enclosed self-addressed
stamped envelope at your eatliest convenience,

Thank you for your cooperation,
Very truly yours,
2SRy
smq
Enclosure!

WauKaGAN QP

210 Nowrs MAzTiN Lemrarg
Ko Ix. Avinug
Waurxwoan, 1L 60085

: on 11-29-2017 06:53 AM / Transaction #
Recelved 11-28-2017 04:31 PM / Circuit Clerk Accepted oriisepe
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NOW COMES PAUL DULBERG, end In considsration of the payment of Five-Thousand
($5,000.00) Dollars to him, by ot on behalf of the WILLIAM MCGUIRE and CAROLYN
MCGUIRE (aka Bill McGuire; impropetly named es Caroline MeGuire) and AUTO-OWNERS
INSURANCR COMPANY, the payment and receipt of which ig hereby acknowledged, PAUL
DULBERG hereby release and discharge the WILLIAM MCGUIRE and CAROLYN
MCGUIRE and AUTO-OWNERS INSURANCE COMPANY, and any agents or employeos of the

WNE

N} IwwmtmoeivingSS!orSSDlonthcdmofﬂmoocmenoo.
a I.am not eligible to recejve SSlor SSDI.
a IamnotourmﬁyrecdvthSiorSSDL

ITIS FURTHER AGREED AND UNDERSTOOD:

a That any subrogated claimg or liens for medical expenses paid by or on
reimbursements of medical oxpenses to subrogated parties, including
Medicare's rights of reimbursement, if any, shall be PAUL DULBERG’s
responsibility, and not the responsibility of the parties reloased herefus, .

b. That any outstanding medical expenses are PAUL DULBERG's

responsibility and all payment of medical expenses hereafler shall be PAUL
DULBERG’s resporisibility, and not the responsibility of the parties released

11117451 / Case #17LA000377
i 1-29-2017 09:53 AM / Transaction #171

- I Circuit Clerk Accepled on 17-29-

Received 11-28-2017 04:31 PM

Page 17 of 19
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o, That PAUL DULBERG agrees to save and hold harmless and Indemnify the
parties releassd herein agalnst any claims made by any

pro
including, but not limited to Medicare or parties subrogated to the rights to
Tecover medical or Med]cars payments, ’

ITISFURHIERAOREBDAND UNDERSTOODbtheperdesbmﬂw this agreement
mmmemwmtmmmpmmmmmwmwmmm and shall
be binding upon and inure to the beneflt of the parties hereto, jointly and severally, and the
executors, conservators, 18, guardians, personal Tepresentatives, heirs and sucoessors of
each,

IT IS FURTHER AGREED AND UNDERSTOOQD that this settlement iy & compromise of
a doubtful end disputed olaim and no liability is admitted a8 & consequence hereof.

INWHNBSSWHERBOF,!hawhmunbaetmybmdmdscalondwdammfonh
below,

PAUL DULBERG

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

) S8,
COUNTY OF MCHENRY )

PAUL DULBERG personally appeared before me this date and acknowledged that she
exeouied the foregoing Release and SettlemauAgreunemashisownﬁ'eeactmdeedfaﬁnm
and purposes set forth therein,

Dated thig day of January, 2014,

Notary Public

1/ Case #17LAD0C0377
on 11-29-2017 09:63 AM / Transaction #1711111745
Recelved 11-28-2017 04:31 PM / Circuit Clerk Accepted e
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From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>
settlement

Subject: Fwd: McGuire

Date: December 28, 2016 10:21:55 AM CST
To: paul_dulberg@comcast.net

From: Paul Dulberg

Date: January 29, 2014 at 1:59:31 PM CST
To: Hans Mast

Subject: Re: McGuire settiement

Ok, it's signed and in the mail.

Hope that some yahoo in the govt. doesn't someday decide to go afler everyone they think they might get a dollar out of and end up
holding me responsible for the McGuires fees incurred while they fight it out.

I'm not in the business of warranting, insuring or protecting the McGuires from government. Especially for only 5 grand. For that kind
of protection it could cost millions but | trust your judgement.

Paul

Paul Dulberg
847-497-4250
Sent from my iPad

On Jan 29, 2014, at 11:49 AM, Hans Mast <hansmast@comcast net> wrote:

SSD has to be part of it...its not going to effect anything...
We can't prevent disclosure of the amount...

- Qriginal Message -—

From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comeast.net>

To: Hans Mast <hansmast@comcast.net>

Sent: Wed, 28 Jan 2014 17:47:39 -0000 (UTC)

Subject: Re: McGuire settlement

What and why do those questions have any relevance at all and why do they need to be part of this agreement?
Particularly the one about being eligible.

Also, | cannot warranty against what SSDI, Medicare or any other government institution wishes to do.

Is it possible to make this agreement blind to the McGuires or David Gagnon?

What | mean is can we make it so that the amount of money cannot be told to them in any way?

It would drive David's ego crazy if he thought it was a large sum and was banned from seeing how much it is.
Paul Dulberg

B847-497-4250

Sent from my iPad

On Jan 29, 2014, at 10:51 AM, Hans Mast <hansmast@comcasi.net> wrote:

Its not a big deal...if you weren't receiving it than don’t check it...not sure what the question Is...
-—--- Original Message —--

From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>

To: Hans Mast <hansmast@comcast.not>

Sent: Wed, 26 Jan 2014 16:16:04 -0000 (UTC)
Subject: McGuire settlement

Hera is a copy of the first page.

It has check boxes and one of the check boxes says;
| am not eligible to receive SSI or SSDI.

Another says;

| am not receiving SSI or SSDIL

As you know, | have applied for SSDI and SSI




From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>
Subject: Fwd: Memo
Date: December 27, 2016 6:11:20 PM CST
To: paul_dulberg@comcast net

From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>
Date: February 22, 2015 at 7:42:25 PM CST

To: Hans Mast <hansmast@att.net>
Subject: Re: Memo

To believe David's version of events you must believe | was committing suicide.
Who in their right mind puts his anm into a chainsaw?

| figured you would cop out again...

Now I'm left wondering...
How hard is it to sue an atty?

And yes | am and have been looking for sameone who will take this case...
The issue of my word vs David Gagnons... Did he cut me or did | cut myself?
Of coarse he cut me.

Next issue please?

Paul Dulberg
847-497-4250
Sent from my iPad

On Feb 22, 2015, at 7:20 PM, Hans Mast <hansmast@att. net> wrote:

Paul | ne longer can represent you in the case. We obviously have differences of opinion as to the value of the case. I've been
telling you over a year now the problems with the case and you just don't see them. You keep telling me how injured you are and
completely ignore that it doesn't matter if you passed away from the accident because we still have lo prove that the defendant
was at fault. While you think 1t is very clear - it is not. My guess is that seven out of 10 times you will lose the case oultright. That
means zero. That's why | have been trying to convince you to agree to a settlement. You clearly do not want to. There's only
$100,000 in coverage, Alistate will never offer anything near the policy limits therefore there's no chance to settle the case. The
only alternative is to take the case to trial and | am not interested in doing that. | will wait for you to find a new attorney. | can't
assist you any further in this case. Just let me know.

Sent from my iPhone
On Feb 22, 2015, at 7:14 PM, Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net> wrote:

Let's not be harsh, We have a cocuple of weeks till dr Kujawa's billing arrives.

| agree showing me the memo is a good idea it's just not the accuracy | expected.

| know I'm being confrontative about all of this but let's face it, my working days are over let alone a career | have been building
since | was in high school. My dreams of family are over unless | have enough to provide and pay for the care of children and a
roof.

What's left for me?

Facebook, scrap booking, crafts, etc... A life of crap...

With ongoing pain and grip issues in my dominate arm/hand that are degenerative.

This is as total as it gets for us in the working class short of being paralyzed or dead.
I need somaone who is on my side, top of thelr game and will see to it that I'm comfortable after all this is over.

What | feel is an attempt to settie for far less than this is remotely worth just to get me off the books.
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Binding Medlstion Award
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David Gagnon

On December 8, 2016, the matter was called for binding mediation before the Honorable James
P. Etchingham, (Ret,), In Chicago, IL. According to the agreement entered into by the parties, If a
voluntary settlement through negotiation could not be reached the mediator would render a

settlement award which would be  binding to the | parties, Pursuant to that agreementthe- - — - - ——

+ == ——medlator ints &8 followE
Finding in favor of: Mﬁﬂdﬁ%
Gross Award: tﬁ 0.

Comparativefault __AAJ 9t eppiicablo)
Net Award: g 67 O

Comwm/Explan&ﬂoﬂ—.MQdZ | g é&, 200 .

Fluture Medics [ £ z00.m0,
Lost _piope 2 217 000,
Les Vv 2000,
L A/1 AL, 020,

/)

The able James P, EtcRmghafn, Ret)
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